POE v. SOUTHEAST DELCO SCHOOL DISTRICT et al

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOHN AND JANE DOES, in their own right
and as parents and natural guardians of L. Doe,
a minor, :

and
WILLIAM AND MARY ROE, in their own

right and as parents and natural guardians of
A. Roe, a minor,

V. ) CIVIL ACTION NO . 15-901

SOUTHEAST DELCO SCHOOL DISTRICT
et al.

Doc. 84

JOHN AND JANE DOES, in their own right
and as parents and natural guardians of L. Doe,
a minor, et al. :

V. ) CIVIL ACTION NO . 15-3655

SOUTHEAST DELCO SCHOOL DISTRICT
et al.

MARTHA POE, in her own right
and as parent and natural guardian of S. Poe
a minor

V. CIVIL ACTION N O. 15-2369

SOUTHEAST DELCO SCHOOL DISTRICT
et al.

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/pennsylvania/paedce/2:2015cv02369/504104/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/pennsylvania/paedce/2:2015cv02369/504104/84/
https://dockets.justia.com/

JOHN AND JANE DOES, in their own right
and as parents and natural guardians of L. Doe;

a minor .
V. : CIVIL ACTION NO. 16 -1364
SOUTHEAST DELCO ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL et al.
MCHUGH, J. SEPTEMBER 27, 2017

MEMORANDUM




Table of Contents

[ FACTUBI OVEIVIEW ...ttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e ettt bt b et e et e e e e e aeeeeeeeas 1
[, StANAArd Of REVIEW.......ccoii it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et baa e e e e e e e eaaeas 4
R B o U 11 (o o OO P PP PPTPUPURUPRPP 4
A. PlaintiffS’ 8 1983 ClAIMS......ueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt s e e e st e e e e e e annbeeeeeeeeannees 4
1. Permissibility of Parallel Claims Under Title IXand 8§ 1983.................c.eoeeiiinns 5
2. Municipal Liability Claims Under Mon€ell...........ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 9
a. Controlling Legal PriNCIPIES. ........uuuuiuiiiiiiiieeee et eeeaeneeees 10
b. The SpecifiaMoNell ClAIMS........ccooiiiiiii e 12
. Failure t0 INVESHIQAate........cccce e i 12
A. The B.F. INVESHQALION.........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciie e 12
B. The P0€ INVESHGAtiON ......couuiiiiiiiiiieiee e eeeeeeeaneeees 16
T o= V] 01 =0 (o T I - PO PP PPPPPPPPPPPPP 23
. FAIlUI 10 SCIEEM.....ciiiiii it 29
3. State-Created Danger ClaiMS........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiir et e e e e e e e 33
a. Elements of a Stat€reated Danger CIaiIML...........ccceeuiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeiiiinens 35
b. Application of Controlling PrinCIpIeS ........cccccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecee e 35
I.  Affirmative State Actiothat Catses Harm.........cccccceeeveiiiiiiiiiiiciiiiiiieee 35
li.  Culpability that S10cks the CONSCIENCE...........cevvuiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 37
iii.  Foreseeable and Fairly Direct Connection Between Action and Harm..40
V.  Discreet Clas Of VICHMS.........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 42....
C. Qualified IMIMUNIEY......oiiiiiiiie e r e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aans 43
B. Title IX CIAIMS ... e e e e e e e e e et e et bbb r e e e e e e e aaeeeees 45
YR @ o] 1117 [ o PSSR 49



These consolidated cases arise out of sexual abuse perpetrated by Paul Hodeschwe
during his tenure as a teacher at the Darby Township School. In 2014, Hochschwender was
arrested and charged with indecent assault, institutional sexual assdalbyaption of minors
involving conduct that occurred in 2013 and 20 plednolo contendergegistered as a sex
offender, and served a prison sentence. Plaintiffs, who were student victims oftiosaider’s
abuse, now seek to recover monetary damages tte Southeast Delco School District and
various administrators who worked at the Darby Township School. Because, withép8axc
of Hochschwender, Defendant Southeast Delco School District and its employeesarei
under state law, Plaintiffs museek compensation by navigating the maze of federal civil rights
law. Discovery is complete, and motions for summary judgment are now beforleamtne
reasons that follow, the motions will be granted in part and denied in part.

I. Factual Overview

The ecord inthesecase is voluminous, with multiple factual disputes. Because
disposition of these motions requires a huanced analysis of specific facts in the obeaich
claim for relief, it is more practical to begin with an overview, and addrestethiés as they are
pertinent to the legal theories advanced.

Paul Hochschwender became an elementary school teacher at Radnor Township School
in 1993, and worked there until 2000, when police investigated him for sexually abusing
children. The investigation resulted in no charges against Hochschwender. He returned t
teaching briefly, but then resigned for “medical reasons,” including steesed by the
investigation.

Hochschwender first began working in the Southeast Delco School District, gt Darb

Township School, in 2003 as an occasional substitute teacher, following interim empl@tra



literacy program. In 2006, he was hired as a long-term substitute at Badoy, January 2007,
he was hired as a fdiime fifth-grade teacher. He clearledth criminal background and child
abuse checks at the time.

Two earlier incidents of abuse at Darby serve as the backbone of Plaintiéfs. cise
first occurred in 2007, when a student named'Bdid a guidance counselor that
Hochschwender puter hands in his lap (near, but not touching, his penis) and held them there
for ten seconds. The second incident occurred in 2011, and involved Plaintiff S. Poe. Poe
reported to her father that Hochschwender at one point “patted” her on the bottosh&hen
aked to go to the restroom. Poe’s father then gathered information about conduct involving
other girls and presentédto the school principal.

For the most part, the parties agree about what occurred after B.F.’s 200 7oal) esgat
the dispute centermn the adequacy of the investigation, and whether B.F. retracted her
accusations or was coerced into doing so. There is far more conflict in the abooit the
investigation that followed Poe’s 2011 claims. Suffice it to say that there is tegtauypporting
two starkly different accounts: one where the principal conducted a full, but pdisaied,
investigation into Hochschwender’s conduct, and the other where the principal simply did not
conduct an investigation at all.

Plaintiffs claim that tre school administrators’ response to these two incidents, or lack
thereof,givesrise to liability under 81983 and Title IX.Theyargueunder various theories that
administrators at Darby failed to protect thbynnot properly screening Hochschwender before

hiring him, failing to haven placeadequate policies, failing to train administrators to investigate

1 B.F. is not a party to this suit.



sex abuse, and failing properly to investigate B.F.’s and Poe’s complaintsaoinaiict.(Poe
herself s also a plaintiff in this case and makes the same claims.
In addition to suing th®istrict, Plaintiffs have brought claims agaitis¢ following
individuals:
e Paul Hochschwender;
e Michael A. P. Jordan, principal of Darby during the Poe incident andtigagen;
o Jeffrey Ryan, assistant superintendent of the District during both the B.Foand P

incidents; and

e Stephen D. Butz, who became superintendent of the District after the B.F. incident and

held that position at the time of the Poe incident.

Plaintiffs have not brought claims against the following individuals, but they figure prattjine

in the record:

e Jeannine Bristow, Darby’s guidance counselor during both the B.F. and Poe incidents;

e Mary Dunwoody, Darby’s principal during the B.F. incidenhoneft before the Poe
incident;

e Ashwina Mosakowski, an assistant principal at Darby at the time of the Poeninwiuz
later became principal; and

e Trudy Bennett, superintendent at the time of the B.F. incident.

2 Although Butz is an individually named defendant, he is sued in his official capacity

The claim against him is therefore treated as a claim against the Digtiict.. Mich. Dep't of
State Police491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989).



Il. Standard of Review

This motion is governed by the familiar standard set out in Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 56. “To prevail on a motion for summary judgment, the moving party must
demonstrate that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and theisnenaied to
judgment as a matter of lawPearson v. Prison Health Ser850 F.3d 526, 533 (3d Cir. 2017).
All reasonable inferences should be drawn “in the light most favorable to the nonmddant.”
A fact is only material if it “could affect the outcomef the proceeding, and a dispute over a
material fact is only genuine if the evidence is “sufficient to permit a reasojuafp to return a
verdict for the non-moving party.ld. at 534.
lll. Discussion

With that broad framework providing some orientatibaddress Plaintiffs’ specific
claims and the sufficiency of the evidence for each.

A. Plaintiffs’ § 1983 Claims

Plaintiffs seek relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. To prevail, they must show that Defendants
“acted under the color of state law and denied [them] a federally protectetltonst or
statutory right.” Angelico v. Lehigh Valley Hosp., Ind84 F.3d 268, 277 (3d Cir. 1999). For
purposes of this motion, Defendants do not dispute that, at all relevant times, tdaynaete
color of state law. And they concede that Hochschwender’s abuse of plaio&ffR&e, and the
three Does deprived those children of their substantive due process right to bediigint

Nevertheless, Defendants disataany liability for Hochschwender’s actions.



Plaintiffs § 1983claims fall into two broad categories: municipal liability claims against
the District? and statecreated danger claims against Assistant Superintendent Ryan and
Principal Jordan in their personal capacities. Preliminarily, however, lconsider whether
such claims are precluded under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 to the Civil
Rights Act, 20 U.S.C. 88 1681-1688, commonly known just as Title IX.

1. Permissibility of Parallel Claims Under Title IX and § 1983

At oral argument, the District for the first time contended that Plaintiffi98&3 claims
are precluded by the existence of their parallel Title IX claims, citing seveesl. cds. of Oral
Arg. 10:20-12:3 (citingA.W.v. Jersey City Pub. Sch486 F.3d 791 (3d Cir. 200Byruneau ex
rel. Schofield v. S. Kortright Cent. Sch. Did63 F.3d 749 (2d Cir. 1998)chengrund v. Pa.

State Univ,. No. 4:07€V-718, 2009 WL 82510 (M.D. Pa. Jan. 12, 2008)S. ex rel. N.S. v.

Twin Valley Sch. DistNo. 2:15€V-05733 (E.D. Pa. June 14, 2016)). Notably, defense counsel
did not so much as mention the Supreme Court’s decisibitzigerald v. Barnstable School
Committee555 U.S. 246 (2009). | found this omission troublesomtiyras of the four cases

cited by counsel predatédtzgerald and the fourth did not address lih Fitzgerald the Court
unanimously held that “Title IX was not meant to be . . . a substitute for § 1983 suits @issa me
of enforcing constitutionaights,” with the result that “8983 suits based on the Equal

Protection Clause remain available to plaintiffs alleging unconstituti@maley discrimination

in schools. Id. at 258. Following argument, therefore, | asked the parties to address the import
of Fitzgeraldfor this case.

Fitzgeraldinvolved a kindergartener who claimed her classmates had regularly sexually

% Because Plaintiffsclaimsagainst the District are based on the theory of municipal
liability recognized inMonell v. Department of Social Servicd86 U.S. 658 (1978) refer to
them collectively adonell claims.



harassed her, and sued the school district under both Title IX and §11988249. Her § 1983
claims were premised on violations of both federal law (Title 1X) and theti@dim (the Equal
Protection Clause)ld. at 250. The lower courts dismissed both § 1983 claims as precluded by
Title IX. But as to the equgdrotection claim, the Supreme Court reversed, holding that Title IX
does not bar parallel § 1983 claims under the Equal Protection Cldus¢ 258.

Fitzgeraldspecifically addressed 8383 claims based on the Equal Protection Clause,
but the Court’s reasoning largely did not distinguish between different types otwiorsal
claims. The Court began by recognizing that whenever the question is whettieabstatute
precludes a parallel 8983 claim, the key consideration is congressional infenfat 252-53.
And “[i]n cases in which the 8983 claim alleges a constitutional violation,” the Court
explained, “lack of congressional intent may be infefreth a comparison of the rights and
protections of the statute and those existing under the Constitutchrat 252. Regardless of
whether the 8983 claim is constitutional or statutory, however, the Court placed primary
emphasis on the nature andesx of the potentially preclusive statute’s remedial schebee.

id.

Applying that framework, the Court acknowledged three prior instances whece it ha
found that Congress had intendegbteclude parallel 8983 claims: the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act and Marine Protection, Research, and Sanctuaries Act 062872,
Middlesex Cty. Sewerage Auth. v. Nat'l Sea Clammers AENU.S. 1 (1981); the Education
of the Handicapped AcseeSmith v. Robinsqrl68 U.S. 992 (1984); and the
Telecommunications Act of 1996ee Rancho Palos Verdes v. Abrab®! U.S. 113 (2005).

But theFitzgeraldCourt found Title IX to be different. First, unlike the “unusually elaborate,’

‘carefully tailored,” and ‘restrictive’ enforcement schemes of the stafiiissue irSea



ClammersSmith andRancho Palos VerdgsTitle IX has no administrative exhaustion
requirement and no notice provisions.” 555 U.S. at 255. What's more, Title IX has only one
express enforcement mechanism (a funding-withdrawal provision), and the' statilyether
remedy is an implied right of actiera significant point, given that the “Court has never held
that an implied right of action had the effect of precluding suideu81983.” Id. at 255-56.

And finally, the Court found it significant that Title IX and 8§ 1983 are not peyfecthgruous in
their coverageld. at 256-57. In all, the Court reasoned, in the Title IX context, “parallel and
concurrent 8§ 1983 claims will neither circumvent required procedures, nor allow eroess
remedies,’id. at 255-56, and so the most tenable conclusion is that “Congress did not intend
Title IX to preclude 81983 constitutional suitsitl. at 256.

Turning back to this case, tBehool District argues th&itzgeralds holding does not
squarely resolve whether Plaintiffs’1®83 claims are precluded by their parallel Title IX claims.
That might be true in a strictly literal sense, but the District’'s formulaic argumeuitosvhn the
absence of any reason why a 8§ 1983 claim predicated on a violation of due process @iffers i
meaningful way from one rooted in equal protection. In its supplemental briefingisthietD
now further argues th&itzgeraldis of no relevance,drause it did not involve a § 1983 claim
predicated on a violation of Title IXSeeNo. 15-2369, Dkt. 80 at 3-(citing Wilkerson v. Univ.
of N. Tex.No. 4:15€V-00540 (E.D. Tex. Nov. 30, 201@ype v. Town of Stoughtp@i17 F.

Supp. 2d 160 (D. Mass. 28)). This argument fails becausene of Plaintiffs’

81983 claims here is predicated on a violation of Title IX. As Plaintiffs cityrebserve (No.
15-2369, Dkt. 81 at ), their 81983 claims are constitutional ones: (1) tivamell claims are
ba®d on an underlying “constitutional right . . . to freedom from invasion . . . of personal

security through sexual abus&toneking v. Bradford Area Sch. Di€882 F.2d 770, 726 (3d



Cir. 1989)* and (2) their statereated danger claims are similarly grounded in the Fourteenth
Amendment’s Due Process Clausee Sanford v. Stile456 F.3d 298, 303—-04 (3d Cir. 2006).
Fitzgeraldquite plainly reasoned that “Congress did not intend Title IX to preclude § 1983
constitutional suits.”ld. at 256.

Returning to the cases on which the District relies, none is persuasive. Mogtdhvol
§ 1983 claims based on statutes, not constitutional violatighnsV, the leading Third Circuit
case on congressiahpreclusion of 8§ 1983 actions, was decided befargerald and

addressed claim rooted in violations of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Adtthe

* Plaintiffs’ Monell claims were initially predicated on violations of both “Constitutional
and federally protected statutory rights,§j, No. 15-2369, Compl. 1 3With the statutory rights
presumably deriving from Title IX. At the motidn-dismiss stage, however, Plaffgiappeared
to clarify that theitMonell claims are based solely on violations of Plaintiffs’ constitutional
rights. E.g, No. 15-2369, Dkt. 18-at 5-8. And I do not read Plaintiffs’ briefing on summary
judgment to alter that position.

®> While | needhot decide whether a®983 claim based on a violation of Title IX is
barred by Title IX, | see little ifritzgeraldthat would clearly bar a plaintiff from maintaining a
parallelMonell claim against a school district which receives federal funds.

TheFitzgeraldCourt’s discussion of precedent where claims were barred focused
entirely on the specifics of the statutes involved, with no mention of any concepgtuadtitin
between a 8983 suit based on a statute and one based on the Constitution.

The Court distinguished Title IX from the statutes in prior cases on the groundstteat
IX has no exhaustion or notice requirements. Title IX plaintiffs “can filectyrén court, and
can obtain the full range of remedies,” 555 W&255, with the resuthat “parallel and
concurrent 8 1983 claims will neither circumvent required procedures, nor allow sroess
remedies.”ld. at 255-56.

The Court defined the question to be whether Congress intended to preclude a claim
because it had otherwise enacted a “comprehensive enforcement scheme that is mleompati
with individual enforcement under § 1983.” 555 U.S at Z&— Ultimately, it gave near
dispositive weight to Title IX’s lack of such a comprehensive enforcemennsche. at 255—

56.

If a 81983 claim rooted in Title IX is brought against an individual educator, there is a
valid concern that it might constitute an attempt to bypass Title IX’s explicit limitation of
liability to recipients of federal fund€oe v. Sch. Bd604 F.3d 1248, 1266 n.12 (11th Cir.
2010). A similar concern does not exist wilonell claims.

8



Rehabilitation Act. 486 F.3d at 802—-b6And M.S, Doe andWilkersonall involved attempts to
use 81983 to sue for violations of Title IX rather than the Constituti®aeNo. 2:15ev-05733
(E.D. Pa. June 14, 2016), slip op. 21-22; 917 F. Supp. 2d at 163—66; NG&WAA@40 (E.D.
Tex.Nov. 30, 2016), slip op. 120. In contrast, Plairfts’ 8 1983 claims all sound in the
Fourteenth Amendment. Insofar as the School District otherwise invokesvdase courts
dismissed 8983claimsasserting constitutional violations as precluded by Title 1X, those
cases—Bruneay 163 F.3d at 757-59, ai@thengrund2009 WL 82510, at *3-predated
Fitzgeraldand were in my w@w necessarily abrogated by lh fact, certiorari was granted in
Fitzgeraldto resolve a split among the circuits, and the line of cases represeathkguwas
ultimately repudiated bifitzgeralditself. Sees55 U.S. at 251.

| therefore conclude that Plaintiffs’ 83 claims are not barred by Title IX.

2. Municipal Liability Claims Under Monell

Plaintiffs advance three setsMbnell claims against the District. First, they allege that
the District failed to investigate credible allegations of child abuse. Secowndldgge that the
District failed to train its administrators how to properly conduct such imatsins. And third,
they allege that thBistrict failed to adequately screen its employees for past child abuse.

All of these claims fail as a matter of law. As to the investigation claim, Plaintiffs tanno
establish liability because any investigative missteps by District personrezl dakimot evince
the requisite degree of culpabiltydeliberate indifference-or were not attributable to a policy
or custom of the District. As to the training claims, Plaintiffs cannot establish lidi@ldguse

they cannot show that the District causeshtrharm by failing to train its staff to investigate

® | do not see the recently issued decisioWwitiams v. Pennsylvania Human Relations
Commission__ F.3d ___, No. 16-4383, 2017 WL 3725@3d Cir.Aug. 30, 2017)as
affecting this analysis, because that casghasized the procedural requirements for the
plaintiff's parallel ADA and Title VII claims.



abuse allegations. And as to the failure to screen, Plaintiffs cannot show thesttioe acted
with deliberate indifference in failing to thoroughly review Hochschweésgbeior work history.

The framework for municipal liability is set forth first, followed by an analysisaxh
set of claims.

a. Controlling Legal Principles

It is abasicprincipleof the law as it has evolved under 81983 that local governments—
which for these purposes include thesttick—are not vicariously liable for the unconstitutional
acts of their employees. Rather, “under § 1983, local governments are respanigibbde their
ownillegal acts.” Connick v. Thompse®63 U.S. 51, 60 (2011) (citation omitted).
Consequently, it is only “when execution of a government’s policy or custom . . . itfikcts
injury that the government as an entity is responsible under § 188%ell, 436 U.Sat694.

“Policy is made when a decision malparssessing final authior to establish municipal
policy with respect to the action issues an official proclamation, policy, dr edicourse of
conduct is considered to be a ‘custom’ when, though not authorized by law, such practices of
state officials are so permanent arellgettled as to virtually constitute lawKneipp v. Tedder
95 F.3d 1199, 1212 (3d Cir. 1996) (citations omitted).

“[1]t is not enough,” however, “for a § 1983 plaintiff merely to identify conduct properly
attributable to the municipality. The plafimust also demonstrate that, through
its deliberateconduct, the municipality was the ‘moving force’ behind the injury alleg@dl.”
of Cty Comm’rs v. Brown520 U.S. 397, 404 (1997). To do thig,plaintiff must show that the
municipal action was taken with the requisite degree of culpability Unless the policy or
custom at issue is a facial violation of federal law, the culpability standaddlibérate

indifference . . . to [the] known or obvious consequences” of municipal action or inaéeog.

10



v. County of Allegheny19 F.3d 261, 276 (3d Cir. 2000) (citations omitté®).showing of
simple or even heightened negligence will not suffidel.” In all cases, the government actor
will be liable only if there is an “affirmative linketween the policy and the particular
constitutional violation allegedCity of Oklahoma City v. Tuttld71 U.S. 808, 823 (1985)—in
other words, a plaintiff must show that the policy actually caused the constitwiimason,
Thomas v. Cumberland Coun#49 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir. 2014) (citiGgy of Canton v.
Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 391 (1989)).

Because “official municipal policy includes . practices so persistent and widespread as
to practically have the force of lawConnick 563 U.S. at 61, a municipality may be liable under
8 1983 for failing to adequately train its employees, investigate aldegatf abuse, or screen
job applicants before hiring thengeeCanton 489 U.S. at 388 (failure to trair(roman v.
Township of Manalapar7F.3d 628, 637 (3d Cir. 1995) (failure to investigateM. ex rel.
J.M.K. v. Luzerne Cty. Juvenile Det. C872 F.3d 572, 581 (3d Cir. 2004) (failure to screen).

“Failure to adequately screen or train municipal employees can ordinarilypbiee®d
deliberate indifference only where the failure has caused a pattern of viefatierg 219 F.3d
at 276. However, “[ijn a narrow range of circumstances plaintiff may proceed on a “single
incident” theory of liability. Bd. of Cty. Comm’s520 U.S. at 398This is possible only when
“the need for more or different training [(or, in theory, screening)] is so obvious, and the
inadequacy so likely to result in the violation of constitutional rights,” that a malitgip
failure to train or screen gamount to deliberate indifference even though the only

constitutional violation is the one underlying the case at h&edCanton 489 U.S. at 390.

11



Plaintiffs do not argue that theéfonell claims fit into the narrow singlmcident
framework. As exphined below, however, Plaintiffs’ failute-screen claim is necessarily based
on a single-incident theory, and so it is analyzed that way.

b. The SpecifiaMonell Claims

Plaintiffs’ claims against the District, as noted above, fall into three categories: failure to

investigate, failure to train, and failure to screen.
i. Failure to Investigate

At the heart oPlaintiffs’ investigation claimarealleged problems with both the B.F.

investigation in 2007 and the Poe investigation in 2011.
A. TheB.F.Investigaibn

In Plaintiffs’ view, the problems with the B.F. investigation stagednbefore B.F.
came forward andllegedthat Hochschwender had touched her inappropriately. As soon as
Hochschwender began teachiifth grade at Darby in 2006, Dunwoody, the princigathe
time, routinely observed him putting his arm around teachers and studentsialitkee-ease of
students, up to eight times over the course of his first year. Ex. T at 54:24-55:3, 56:22-57:6.
Dunwoody thus often felt it necessary to speak with Hochschwender about “classitom ¢
and the informality he had with students,” as well as remind him to be “less in pyGxntit
them. Ex. T at 54:17-21, 56:3—6. It was against this backdrop thav&Fto sedristow,
Darby’s guidance caselor, and alleged that Hochschwender, her teacher, hadnhands in
his lap close to, but not touching his penis, and held them there for 10 seconds.

Bristow elected not to report B.F.’s allegations to Children and Youth Ser@de3) (
Shelatertestified that if B.F. had claimed that Hochschwender had engaged in unambiguousl

sexual conduct, such as kissing or over-the-clothes genital touching, she woulefiaee the

12



matter to CYS Ex. W at 26:12-14, 36:21-23, 51:15-52:6. But based otofdiss
understanding of the types of conduct {GatS considered reportabledeveloped through her
frequent interactions with CYS—she determined that CYS would not accept alraberut the
B.F. allegation. Ex. W at 46:9-47:19s she later put it, whil&he situation was very vague or
gray in a sense, a boundary line had not been crossed that would have caused me to call the
county.” Ex. W at 36:12-20.

Plaintiffs make much of Hochschwender’s of@miliarity with his studentsand
Bristow’s failure toreport B.F.’s allegations to CYS, binetse facts are not as damning as
Plaintiffs make them out to be. To start, it bears mention that Plaintiffs do not-etaich
nothing in the record indicateshat any of the earlier physical contact between Hochschwender
and other students that Dunwoody observed rose to the level of abuse. Moreover, and crucially
Bristow’s decision not to notify CYS was consistent with Pennsylvania repdatarggthen in
effect.” Those laws required that a school employee contactchool’s administrator (the
principal) only where he or she had “reasonable cause to suspect, on the basis cbpabtassi
other training and experience, that a student . . . is a victim of . . . sexual abuse or sexual
exploitation by a school employee.” 23 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 6352(a) (2007). The administrator
would then be required to report the incident to law enforcement. 8§ 6353(a). “Sexual abuse or
exploitation,” however, was then defined as:

The employment, use, persuasion, inducement, enti¢eanen

coercion of any child to engage in or assist any other person to
engage in any sexually explicit conduct or any simulation of any

” In the wake of the Penn State abuse scandal involving Jerry Sandusky, Permsylvani
formed a task force on child protectioBee Task Force on Child Protectjon
www.childprotection.state.pa.us (last visited Sept. 14, 2017). After conducting hednmade
recommendations in November 2012. Ultimately, a package of 21 pieces of i@gyisias
enacted, taking effect in December 2014. The applicable statues and regulateowere “pre
Sandusky.”

13



sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of producing any visual

depiction, including photographing, videotaping, corsput

depicting or filming, of any sexually explicit conduct or the rape,

sexual assault, involuntary deviate sexual intercourse, aggravated

indecent assault, molestation, incest, indecent exposure,

prostitution, statutory sexual assault or other form of alexu

exploitation of children.
8 6303(a). Plaintiffs make no attempt to place B.F.’s allegation—that Hochschweeflgr br
held her hands in his lap near his penis—anywhere within that definition. Indeed, theyeconce
that, as to B.F.’s allegation, “there was nothing, frankly, sexual about it.” Trab?@p.
46:19-47:5.

In Defendants’ view, the preceding discussion is beside the point, becauseaftanrtly
making her allegation, B.F. completely retracted it. Ex. R at 26:17-21; Ex. T at 40:1i-19.
B.F.’s own words, she “just completely denied the whole thing.” Ex. R at 17P2dintiffs
counter that B.F.’s retraction was not credible, offering two reasons. tRégtpoint to evidence
that B.F.’s allegations were met with open skepticisrhittiabited her from pressing her
complaint As B.F. later recalledipon learning of Hochschwender’s actioBastow told her:
“this is a serious issue. You got to think about [Hochschwender’s] family, like think hgw the
would feel. You could ruin this guy’s career.” Ex. R at 16:4-10. And Dunwoody, who later
met with B.F. (more on this below), echoed Bristow’s theme, telling B.F., “Iéiit'tdhappen,
think about it before you say it to anyone.” Ex. T at 47:4-B.F.. claims thathis reaction
“charged how [she] thought abduter accusationbecause it made her realize Sbeuld get

into a lot of trouble,” and she “d[id not] want to do that to his family.” Ex. R at 16:4-22.

Second, Plaintiffs point to the fact that BristamdDunwoody arrangd a meeting between

8 B.F. was interviewed by police on March 17, 2014, following Hochschwender’s arrest.
There are no documents memorializing what she said originally in 2007.
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them, B.F., B.F.’s mother, and Hochschwender himself. Ex. R at 21:21-24:15.
Hochschwender’s presence at the meeting, they claim, is not only a sign olfyaryoor
investigation, but proof that B.F.’s purported retraction was in reality sometloisgy ¢b an
extraction. About that meeting, B.F. indeed later told police: “So they bring him in. And I'm
just sitting there like is he here . . .. | know I'm going to deny it. Because | hawaskam
teacher in class. I'm freaking out inside.” Ex. R at 23:23-22:15.

Plaintiffs’ critique has merit: few would say the B.F. investigation was well fiune
initial skepticism toward B.F. was not necessarily an ideal reattigmd as to the decision to
bring Hochschwender into the meeting, even Dunwoody later admitted that “in hindsight
perhaps, the judgment was incorrect.” Ex. T at 54:1-11.

But these investigative missteps are not sufficient to defeat summarygotgis noted
above, the conduet issuavas not frankly sexual. From a legal perspective, B.F. never
accused Hochschwenderafythingapproaching the then-current statutory definition of sexual

abuse or exploitation, meaning that Bristow was not required to internally refgoRunwoody

® While the weight of the record shows that B.F. retracted before Dunwoody was eve
notified and thus before the group meeting was held, there is also evidence indncetiir
first retracted at the group meetinGompareEx. T at 42:3—-9 (Dunwoody siag that the
retraction occurred before she was told}h Ex. R at 26:8—-27:7 (B.F. indicating that the
retraction occurred at group meeting). For the reasons given below, howlewetgry dispute
on this point immaterial.

191t should be noted that any skepticism was likely driven in part by B.F.’s ¢ienera
reputation at the time. B.F., who had then recently transferred into Darby frothadi€a
school, experienced a “tremendous amount of social transitional challenges” aadhsovéry,
very frequently up . . . to the guidance counselor to talk about her struggling to get along with the
other girls.” Ex. T at 37:22-38:20. In those meetings with Bristow, B.F. “had a habit imigjsay
something before] retracting it or saying it was okay now.” Teat 38:21-39:22. It was against
this pattern of behavior that Dunwoody ultimately suspended B.F. from school for a day for
making and then retraction her allegation against Hochschwender. Ex. T at 49:9-14.
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and Dunwoody was not reqei to report it to outside authoriti&%s.Moreover, neither the
substance of B.F.’s allegations nor Dunwoody’s observations of Hochschwender’s conduct
supplied notice that Hochschwender posed an obvious and substantial risk to his students. Under
these acumstances, Bristow and Dunwoody’s investigation into B.F.’s claimsatagorst,
negligent but negligence isot the requisite standard of culpability heRather Plaintiffs must
show deliberate indifference—"a stringent standard of fault, requiring proof thahigipal
actor disregarded a known or obvious consequence of his actibmgrias 749 F.3d at 223.
On this record, such a showing is not possible with respect to the investigation sf B.F.’
allegations-?
B. ThePoe Investigation

In early 2011, four years aftBrF. made her allegatioRlaintiff Poethen a student in
Hochschwender's fifth-grade class, came home from school one Friday and toldhé&etifat
while she was leaving class to go to the bathroom that day, Hochschwender had gyaited h
the butt.” Ex. FFF at 49:1-7. She also said that Hochschwender routinely “violates other

people’s personal space’such as by putting his hands on their shoulders, picking them up, and

1 This conclusion is consistent with the opinion expressed by defense expert, Anne
Shenberger, who worked for the Office of Children Youth and Families in the Penmaylva
Department of Public Welfare for 30 yeaSeeEx. DDD at 16-13. Plaintiffs’ expert does not
offer any contrary interpretatio

2 Hochschwender was not disciplined for the incident with B.F. Ex. T at 60:19-23.
Nevertheless, for the rest of the school year Dunwoody spoke with Hochschwedea twi
month about his “familiarity with students.” Ex. T at 59:3—-22. More genefallgywoody was
“concerned about his effectiveness as a teacher”; “he did not have,” in her wioedsest sense
of expectations for the students. He was very, very forgiving[.]” Ex. T at 64:12-65:5, 66:2-9.
She also observed, however, that around that time Hochschwender seemed to be “going through
some traumatic personal experience” as the result of a recent separationaar, dindrhad “lost
a tremendous amount of weight.” Ex. T at 64:12-65:15. At the end of that school year (2006—
07), as part of routine teacher evaluations, Dunwoody shared these concerns wislritttes D
superintendent. Ex. T at 63:20-68:4. As with Hochschwender’s earlier instances oélphysi
conduct, there is no indication that any of his continued physical contact withtstudes
abusive.
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“standing real close*and that “other children feel uncomfortable around him.” Ex. FFF at
49:17-25, 51:21-52:5. On an earlier occasion, Poe had told her father that Hochschwender had
“reprimanded her and got close to her face.” Ex. FFF at 4B413But this was the first time

the father “heard of li& a sexual matter,” and so when Poe went to school that Monday, her
father went with her to report her allegation. Ex. FFF at 50:1-9, 53:2-8.

At the school, Poe first made a written statement, describing “certain instdoozes
[Hochschwender] and the way it happened.” Ex. FFF at 55:10-56:23, 57:19-23. The substance
of Poe’s complaint against Hochschwender, Jordan recalls, was “about touchgirstheEx.

X at 87:4-88:3. And the use of the plural is significant, because Poe’s father had also brought
with him a list of several other female students in Poe’s class who had similgliagas about
Hochschwender. Ex. X at 86:12-18.

Both the substance of this list and when it was precisely created and turneehosier r
unclear On substance, Podather testified that he came up with the idea for the list after he
had chaperoned a field trip, observed Hochschwender in person, and “didn’t like the look of him
already.” Ex. FFF at 60:81:9. He then suggested that Poe “go around and ask the other
children . . . if he’s ever made them feel uncomfortable to sign the paper,” weithen did.

Id. Jordan, however, recalls that the list named girls who not only felt uncomfortable around
Hochschwender but who had been “similarly touched.” Ex. X at 86:12-18. And Jordan’s
descriptionof his subsequent investigation—described more fully below—further demonstrates
his understanding that Hochschwender touched multiple girls’ buttoak$imihg, the clearest
inference from the recordand the one on which Plaintiffs proceed (Resp. ati9txat Poe’s

father brought this list to schbat the same time that heported Poe’s allegation, which was a

mere three days after her initial complaint to hifeeEx. X at 90:14-21, 95:5+ Ex. FF at
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53:10-24; Ex. Sat 85:19-86:16. But Poe’s father seems to recall that the list was possibly
created, and thus necessarily turned over, much later on. Ex. FFF at 67:13-24. In,any case
Defendants’ summary judgment motion, the record must be viewed in the light moabfavor
Plaintiffs. | therefore adopt Plaintiffs’ version of events, that the listatatudents who had
been similarly touchedwhich is to say patted on the buttockard that it was delivered at the
same time as the report of Poe’s allegation.

Upon receiving the list of names and learning the details of Poe’s allegdtodan
instructed Mosakowski, his assistant principal, to transfer Poe out of ¢teahsder’'s
homeroom class for the remainder of the school year. Ex. FF at 56:21-57:10. What happened
next is a matter of considerable disagreement.

In Jordan'’s telling, he first telephoned Ryan, the District’s assistantistigretent, and
shared his belief thalhe allegationsagainst Hochschwender warranted an internal investigation,
an assessmewith which Ryan purportedly “agreed.” Ex. X at 89:20-90:4. Ryan recalls only
that Jordan told him that a father was making complaints about a teacher and alaidesl
[Jordan] to talk to the parent.” Ex. S at 87:14-24. Indeed, Ryan maintdinstiha
Hochschwender’s arrest, he was unaware that Poe and her father had accusedvidodbscif
inappropriate touching’

Jordamextclaims that after his conversation with Ryame am Mosakowski
approached Hochschwendarformed him of the allegations (which he denied), and told him
that he would be suspended from teaching with pay pending the investigation. Ex. X at 90:5-13.

Jordan says that he and Mosakowski then brought in Bristow, still Darby’s geidamaselor,

13As Ryan recalled, his “assumption was that the child got a grade that thedidnént
agree with or maybe got a detention or a recess thing that the parent diea'waft” Ex. S at
89:8-22.
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to help interviewapproximatelythree female studentsPoe and certain of the girls on the list.
Ex. X at 95:8-23 During the interviews, Jordan says he largely left the questioning to Bristow
and Mosakowski because he believed the students wouldreecorafortable speaking with
women and because “it was more appropriate for a guidance counselor” to quadeoitsst
Ex. X at 93:9-95:1. Jordan specifically remembers Bristow asking each studestribe what
Hochschwender did and whether they “believe[d] it was intentional.” Ex. X at 95:21-96:11.
She even had them “stand up and position themselves and how Mr. Hochschwender was walking
between the desks,” to recreate the alleged incidents of inappropriate ctthtd@ased on
these interviews]ordan says that he, Mosakowski, and Bristow “all agreed” that any physical
contact between Hochschwender the students had been “inadvertent,” Ex. %-20$7shd
that the investigation therefore “couldn’t proceed further.” Ex. X at 98:18-99:3.

Bristow and Mosakowsktlaim thatnone of this took placeSpecifically, when Bristow
was asked whether she ever met with Jordan and Mosakowski regarding Podisiadiesfae
stated “I never had such a meeting.” Ex. W at-62:8And when asked whether she questioned
Poe and the other students who accused Hochschwender of misconduct in 2011, she testified:

“that did not happen.” Ex. W at 63:22. Likewise, when Mosakowski was asked during her

14 Jordan claims that before speaking with any of Hochschwender’s accuserst, he fi
reached out to their parents and invited them to participate in the investigation, bubf'none
them took [him] up on that.” Ex. X at 95:8=20

1> None of the students, Jordan recalls, “ma[de] a good caddthdbchschwender
intentionally . . . touched their butts, like reached out and grabbed them.” Ex. X at 96:17-23.
Rather, the best Jordan could tell, they had all been “involved in a classroom exbsrise
people were out of their seats . . . and there’s a lot of desks,” and Hochschwender matle conta
with them just by'kind of going through. He’s a tall man, and he was kind of working his way
through the aisle.” Ex. X at 97:21-98:7. Because of this, Jordan “couldn’t clearly réjadrt” t
Hochschwender “intentionally, like, inappropriately reached out and grabbell gréitie
gir’'s—any of them, their—their butts.” Ex. X at 97:3-20.
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deposition whether she helped interview Hochschwender’s accusers, and wheémel 3tielan
ever met with Hochschwender regarding Poe’s allegations, she answeredtivebp “I deny
that happened,” Ex. FF at 70:16, and “No,” Ex. FF at 71:23.

Jordan’s account of the investigation’s aftermath is similarly at odds witbfthés
former colleaguesBefore allowing Hochschwender to return to the classroom, Jolaiams
that he placed him on a “teacher improvement plan” that forbade him from “touch][inidgd,& c
“break[ing] their personal space,” or even “yell[ing] at them.” Ex. X at 105'3-Ibrdan says
that he explained the plan to Hochschwender during a meeting with Mosakowski and with
Karcher, the union representative. He further maintains that the plan was putting, signed
by Hochschwender, and given to Ryan. Finally, Jordan says that he also gave to Ryan a
complete report on the findings of his investigation into the Poe incident. Mosakowski,
however, denies discussing a teacher improvement plan with Hochschwendery,Kardhe
Jordan. Ex. FF at 71:7-28.Ryan, for his part, says he never received a copy of the teacher
improvement plan or investigation report, and also claims that neither document coulatée loc
in the District’s files.

Curiously, Plaintiffs barely mentiaime contradictions between the testimony of Bristow
and Mosakowski on the one hand, and Jordan on the d®le’ SOF {1 115, 156. Indeed,

although they note Ryanassertiorthat Jordan never told him the substance of Poe’s allegation

16 Jordan also claims that he “didn’t think [Hochschwender] was a terrific teaahdr
so included within the improvement plan something “to do with academics,” which reduated t
Hochschwender “really focus on teaching.” Ex. X at 108:2-11.

7 Karcherhas no recollection of attendingreeetingto discuss Hochschwender’s teacher

improvement plan but could not rule out the possibility suegh a meetingpok place. Ex. AA
at 64:18-20.
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or sent to him a report and teacher improvement plan, Plaintiffs seem to assuineddua’s
investigation otherwise unfolded as he says it did.

This apparent acceptance of Jordan’s account is not compelled by the record. Rather, i
Bristow’s and Mosakowski’s testimony is credited, then one of two conclusioaw$olleither
(1) Jordan interviewed Hochschwender’s accusers but, contrary to his testditbsy without
aid and in secret, or (2) Jordan never actually interviewed Poe, and the other girls.

The latterinferencewould support a finding that Jordamnacion demonstrated
deliberate indifference. Read in the light most favorable to the Plaintiéfsetord shows that
Jordan knew of accusations from at least three girls who claimed that Hoehsieniouched
their buttocks. If Jordan failed to take even cursory investigatory actiom fabed with what
can be fairly characterized as an alleged pattern of blatantly inappropriatetantigtly sexual
contact, then he consciously disregartiee substantial risk that the allegations against
Hochschwender were true.

But even adopting this damningerpretationof Jordan’s condugPlaintiffsdo not have
aviable 8 1983 claim against the Districtinder any reading of the recortietfatal flaw in
Plaintiffs’ failure-to-investigate theory dfionell liability is that they have not shown that
Jordan’s conduct, whatever it may have been, was the result of a policy or custom.

Regarding policyPlaintiffs do notarguethat the Districs policies compelled an
inadequate investigation into the B.F. and Poe incidents; in fact, they argue thiéeoppos
According to Plaintiffs, the District enabled Hochschwender’s abuser éadtause failed to

maintain adequate policiesn training, obecause it allowed its employees to routinetjate
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policy by not (1) conducting reasonable investigations, (2) reporting crediblatalleg)of abuse
to law enforcement® or (3) maintaining records of alleged abuse in personnel file.
BecauséPlaintiffs do not attempt to hold thstrict liable based on ifgolicies, they
mustshow that there existed within the District a widespread pattern of delibsiéference to
credible allegations of sexual abuse—in other words, a cuss@® Kneipp95 F.3d at 1212
(“[T]he Supreme Court recognize[s] a twath track to municipal liability undér 1983 either
through government policy or custom.Plaintiffs attempt this bpointing to the events of the

2006-2007 schoglear But, as discussed at length above, Dunwoody and Bristow were, at

18 On this point, Plaintiffs argue that Jordan’s statements to police in 2014 show that he
knew in 2011 that the allegations against Hochschwender were credible. Spgcificdan
referring to Hahschwender, said: “I really didn’t want him in my building.” Ex. EE at 13:6-11.
When pushed, Jordan elaborated:

[B]ecause it was too risky. Whatwhat if, you know, it wasn’t
inadvertent, even though | determined it to be inadvertent? Because |
couldn’t—I'm not a police officer and | couldn’t say for sulenean it's
serious if—we have to protect the children. But what if that allegation,
what iF—what if | was wrong? Thenthen | mean-it wasn’t appropriate
for him to be in a fifth grade classroom.

Id. at 13:12-23. | am unconvinced that these statements, standing alone, support an inference
that Jordan violated his students’ constitutional rights.

Most of what Jordan said to the police is couched entirely in a hypothefidakdan
“was wrong,”thenit “wasn’t appropriate for him to be in a fifth gedlassroom.” Sucpost
hoc conditional reservations say little about whether Jordan was deliberatélgremdi at the
time he conducted the investigation. And if one assumes (as Plaintiffs appgbat dmrdan
took the investigative steps he says he did, then his statements reveal only thedyalte
made a considered decision that entailed some risk, he was concerned about thermmesequ
should that risk come to beae—perfectly natural reaction. There is no inconsistency, let alone
one of constitutional dimensions, between Jordan’s not being “sure’ about what happened” and
his formal determination that he did not at the time have “reasonable cause td suspexual
abuse or sexual exploitation.”

On the other hand, if one infers from Bristow’s and Mosakowski’s testimony thtztnlor
did not in fact conduct an investigation, then his statements to police can be readiatk a pa
admission of his failure to treat the allegations against Hochschwender \itreatf
seriousness. In sugrdan’s statement does not have determinative legal significance; its
meaning depends entirely on the context in which it is read.
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worst, negligent in their handling of Hochschwender’s inappropriate but concededigxuadl-
contact with his students. Their actions therefore do not support an inférantiee District
had a custortreating abuse allegations with deliberate indiffererfagrther weighing against a
finding of custom, around the time of the Poe incident, the District not only inveskjdpit
referred to law enforcement, at least three separate reports that teachefsramnshadrs had
engaged in improper contact with students. Ex. U at 41:9-47:24. Moreover, in two of these
cases, the teachers were forced to resign and their teaching certificationsvwokeelr Ex. U at
43:2-44:7, 44:10-45:2. These actions show that the District repeatedly took seriously
allegations of sexual abuse. Absent compelling evidence to the contrary, | finaffibisrg to
defeat Plaintiffs’ claim that the District had a custom of failing to investigléggedmisaonduct.

Withouta policy or custom on which to base municipal liability, Plaintiffs’ claipins
the final analysisan attempt to bootstrap District liability based on the mistakes of its
administrators, Jordan in particular. The whole poiMohell and its progeny, however, is that
“municipalities should not be liable for an employee’s wrongful acts, simplpplyiag
agencybased principles akespondeat superidr Los Angeles County v. Humphri&62 U.S.
29, 38 (2010). Defendants' motion for summary judgment will therefore be granted as to
Plaintiffs’ failure-to-investigate claim against the District.

ii. Failure to Train

In addition to their claims that the District failed to properly investigate allegations

child abuse, Plaintiffs also advancdistinct theory that the District failed to train its employees

on how to conduct those investigations. As evidence, Plaintiffs point to multiple insiatives

9n the third, the staff members were not disciplined because the Districtsigat®n
showed that the charges werdaumded. Ex. U at 47:11-19. In no case did law enforcement
end up bringing criminal charges. Ex. U at 43:21-44:7, 44:10-45:2, 47:11-18.
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record of District staff either being unable to remember such trainingeahyoadmitting that
they never received it prior to either of the investigations relevanthdsat these claims also
fail as a matter of law, becauakhough there is some support for Plaintiffs’ view that the
District’s training was inadequate, there is no evidence that any such inagsgeaused the
constitutional violations alleged here.

Initially, it appears true that, reading the evidence in Plaintiffs’ faverDistrict could
have done a better job training its administrators how to investigate allegaticinil abuse.
The most prominent example of this comes from Jordan, who testified that he newardec
training from the District on how to conduct such an investigation or how to distinguisbemetw
what constituted appropriate touching of a child and what did not. Ex. A at 115:16-116:1,
119:20-23. Mosakowski testified similarly; in fact, during the Poe investigation, ske “wa
learning from Dr. Jordan. This was [her] first administrative job.” Ex. FF at 132:17:41%33:
And finally, though Plaintiffs do not allege that Bristow, the guidance counselogdwth the
B.F. and Poe investigations, failed to receive such training, they do claim (Répsthatt
Bristow’s “bizarre notion” of what sorts of conduct did and did not amount to reportable child

abuse “could not have been conceived by a properly trained school administrator.”

20 plaintiffs also rely on an expert report.

1 Hochschwender testified that while he remembers receiving regpilsing from the
District on what actions constituted child abuse, he does not recall the specifiastadining,
and in particular does not recall any instruction on what sorts of physid¢attarith a child is
inappropriate. Ex. BB at 28:3-22, 30:15-8. He also admitted that, in between B.F.’s and Poe’s
allegations, the District did not provide him with additional training “regarding cowii#h
children.” Ex. BB at 66:315. But while Plaintiffs point to this-and for obvious reasonstis
unclear how Hochschwender’'s admissions are legally relevant to Plaifatilifise-to-train
claims. The theory of those claims is not that the District failed to train Hochsobmeand
where the line was between permissible conduct with children and not. Instead, thésthear
other employees-in particular, higher-ups—were not trained on how to investigate an allegation
that a teacher had crossed that line.
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To be sure, others recall that the District took a more proactive approach. Fwansta
Dunwoody, Darby’s principal during the B.F. investigation, testified that, ipieous role as
the District’s curriculum director, she had “made sure” that new teachers wene ‘@wa. and
understood” the District’s policy on reporting child abuse. Ex. T at 22:12-23:12. That policy,
she testified, “mandated” that any sohemployee who becomes aware of “any kind of
inappropriate behavior” report it to the principal. Ex. T at 24:13-25:1. Butz, the Dsstrict’
superintendent since 2009, testified that not onlytltedDistrict’'s written policy “clearly”
require employee4o report [to law enforcement] when they have reasonable cause to suspect”
child abuse, but also that in 2008 and 2010, outside attorneys, including from the Pennsylvania
State Education Association, came in to train all District staff on reportingeeggnts. Ex. U
at 37:7-12, 38:10-14, 123:5-124sépe alsd=x. S at 149:19-150:13 (Ryan testifying
similarly).?? Karcher, the union representative at all times relevant here, helped organize these
trainings, each of which she recalls as being an “umbsgilathing,” instructing teachers on
everything from “social media” and “professional behavior” to “touching” apdrteng
requirements. Ex. AA at 31:7-32:12.

Viewed broadly, then, the record tells conflicting accounts about whethergtieDi
adequatly trained its employees on investigating allegations of child abuse—and so one might
think that a jury should be allowed to decide which version is true. But not here, because
regardless of any inadequacies in the District’s training program, Placdithot demonstrate

that those inadequacies were the cause of the constitutional violationdegey dlhe reason is

22 Virtually identical training was provided to all staff in 2012. Ex. U at 123:16-124:1.
And ayear later, soon after Butz participated in a statewide training desigiredkfe] sure
that superintendents and the staff going down the line w[ere] aware of whatbedoisaonduct
consisted of and . . . what reports needed to be filed and whebDjsuitt staff—approximately
700 employees in total—again received similar training. Ex. U at 121:22-122:16.
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that after each relevant allegation of abuse, the proper officials either contwetstthations

that, if not exactly models to follow, were constitutionally adequate (Dunwaadiastow, in
the case of B.F.), or demonstrated through their testimony that they knew howotaldsfste
their lack of training from the District (Jordan, in the case of Poe, as skstbslow).

Regardig Jordan, even if the District failed to train him on how to conduct
investigations, he had nonetheless received that training elsewhere. Accordirttatg Before
coming to Darby, he was an elementary school principal in the Central Dauphin School
District—a “very large district” with “inRhouse psychiatrists or psychologistsithere he was
trained on “appropriate versus inappropriate touching” and how to investigate ahaaisn
teacher had engaged in the latter kind. Ex. X at 116:3-119:10l. Butz corroborated Jordan’s
account, noting that Jordan had taken courses required by the Pennsylvania &epdrtm
Education on mandatory reporting and on how to conduct an investigation before joining the
District.”

Given this prior experience, it is perhaps unsurprising that Jordan says he knew how t
investigate Poe’s allegations: “[Y]ou remove the adult so that he can’t intimidateYou get
parents’ permission to be part of the questioning. You get the guidance counselor . . . to do it,
and . . . you make sure that the union rep is with the teacher.” Ex. XX at 119:10-19. Or, in
Jordan’s words, “everything | did.ld. Admittedly, Bristow’s and Mosakowski’'s testimony
casts doubt on whether Jordan in fact took all of these steps. But that isntéte\present

purposes. With respect to Plaintiffs’ failuietrain claim, what matters is that, despite the

23 Butz himself had started his career as a “social worker working with chikkab
victims and sexually abused victims and their families.” st 35:12-36:22. And
Mosakowski, who had been an educator for well over a decade by the time of the Poe
investigation, had also received training on conducting child-abuse investigatiensidwas
in college. Ex. FF at 21:21-23:8, 130:18-23.
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District’s failure to train him, Jordan was able to describe a constitutiortktyuate
investigation.

Constitutionally adequate, at leastpart, because Jordan’s purported investigation was
consistent with thesurrent state law and District polié. As in 2007, Pennsylvania law at the
time of the Poe incident continued to define sexual abuse as:

The employment, use, persuasion, inducepanttcement or coercion of a child

to engage in or assist another individual to engage in sexually explicit conduct.

[Or] [tlhe employment, use, persuasion, inducement, enticement or coercion of a

child to engage in or assist another individual to engagenulation of sexually

explicit conduct for the purpose of producing visual depiction, including

photographing, videotaping, computer depicting and filming.

23 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 6352(a) (201A)though the allegations of Poe and her classmates were
undeniably troubling, they did not clearly fall within the demanding statutorgitiefi of sex
abuse. Moreover, under the District’s policy in 2011 (No. 806), and the nearly idertieal st
reporting law, Jordan was required to report a case to CYS and law enforcemehhenly i
received a report of abuse from a school employee, or by other means had alieasmmnse”

for believing that abuse took place. Ex. N at 4 (citing 23 Pa. Cons. Stat. 8 6352(a)(1) (2007));
§ 6352(a)(1) (2011) (identical to 2007 version). Contrary to Plaintiffs’ claims, théwmes not

appear that Jordamould have blatantly abused his authority by undertaking his own

investigation rather than immediately referrthg matter to the police.

24 Of course, compliance with state law is no defense agaf4083 claim premised on
a deprivation of federal rights. The apparent consistency between Jordan’s purporte
investigation and state law is relevant, however, to whether he could be dedraed &xted
with deliberate indifference by carrying out the investigation that he BedcriBecause
compliance with applicable law and policy suggests that Jordan did not act with conscious
disregard for the welbeing of Hochschwender’s students, | findupports a finding that his
purported investigation was constitutionally adequate.

%> Notably, as with the B.F. allegation, defense expert Anne Shenberger found that there
was no obligation to report this set of allegations to law enforcensssEx. DDD at 13. Butz
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Furthemore,the investigative steps that Jordestedareat a minimumnconsistent with,
and arguably incompatible with, deliberate indifference. Upon learning of tigatadies against
Hochschwender, Jordan claims he promptly alerted the appropriate administ@ttneanted
the accused, solicited the help of affected parents, questioned the accusergdcontter
colleagues, documented his findings, and put in place procedures designed to prevent future
inappropriate ontact. If Jordan indeed took these steps, then even if he mistakenly concluded
Hochschwender’s actions were inadvertent, no reasonable jury could find that hextidjiber
ignored a known or obvious risk to his students. More to the point, if Jordkzoh tiaitake these
steps, it wasn't because he didn’t know hSw.

The upshot is that even if the District had provided no training at all on how to do a
proper investigation, Plaintiffs cannot show that more or better training would hewenfed
any of the constitutional violations they allege here. Plaintiffs’ expertedward Dragan, who
hardly paints a damning picture of the District’s failure to train in genisrpfrticularly
inconclusive on causation. Dr. Dragan’s chief conclusion was that District adatorst‘are
not extensively trained to investigatelld abuse and for that reason, [District] policy in effect in
2007 and 2011 . . . requires immediate reposugpectedemphasis added) child abuse to the

school principal, who was then required tokean immediate report to Chilaie

agreed, noting, of Jordan’s investigation, “working on his assumptions, he followed peotedur
Ex. U at 156:5-21.

26 Nothing in the record suggests that Jordan might have learned appropriateativestig
procedures after the Poe inandle Neither party has identified any training that Jordan received
from the District between spring 2011, the time of Poe’s accusations, and April 2012, when
Jordan resigned following his arrest on domestic violence charges (Jordan Wwaskeatin a
school since his resignation). And when, without warning, police called Jordan in 2014 to
interview him as part of their criminal investigation into Hochschwender, Jordambeelskis
investigation into the Poe incident just as he described it in his tiepdsistimony—a
consistency that dispels any notion that he educated himself on proper investigetaki in
anticipation of this lawsuit.
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[(Pennsylvania’shild-abuse reporting service)].” No. 15-2369, Dkt. 82-1 at 15. This
conclusion says nothing about whether the District’s alleged failure to tesinh& actual cause
of the constitutional violations here, and in this respect stands in marked contraistitootker
failure-to-train claims that have survived summary judgmsee, e.g.Thomas749 F.3d at 221,
225;A.M.,, 372 F.3d at 582yicDaniels v. City of Philadelphja __ F. Supp. 3d ___ , No. 15-
2803, 2017 WL 590271, at *3, *6—-8 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 13, 2017) (Rufe, J.). Accordingly, Plaintiffs’
failure-to-train claim must fail.
iii. Failure to Screen

Finally, Plaintiffs allege thathe District failecko adequately screen potential teachers for
past incidents of child abuse, leading to Hochschwender’s hiring in 2006 even though he had lef
teaching at Radnor School District “under a cloud of serious allegations @athise.”Resp. at
12. All parties agree that, although District policy required the superinterndesatek
recommendations from former etoyers and others in assessing [a] candidate’s qualifications”
(Ex. N at 2), there is no indication that anyone at the District checked Hochschwende
references before he was hired. Plaintiffs argue that, had someone checkedh\eatsr
would not have been hired.

The “cloud” Plaintiffs refer to dates back to 2000, when Hochschwender, then a teacher
in Radnor, was accused of inappropriately touching students. Hochschwender was duspende
from teaching pending the results of an investigati®eeEx. A. The matter was referred to law
enforcement, which conducted its own investigation but found there was “insufficidanhesgi
to proceed with any criminal charges.” Pls.” Ex. A. Hochschwender returnealctarg (EX.

B), but soon after took a leave of absence, ostensibly for medical reasons (Ex. C). Inh2e01, w

still on leave, Hochschwender resigned from Radnor altogether. Ex. F.
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The main evidentiary basis for Plaintiffs’ claim that this incident should have ultymatel
led the District to rieise to hire Hochschwender six years later is a letter (Ex. B) that the
principal of Hochschwender’'s Radnor school sent him when he returned from his suspension but
before taking leave. That letter, which made clear that it “d[id] not represefdram of
disciplinary action,” set forth “the district’'s expectations for changeglidchwender] needs to
make in [his] interactions with childrenld. at 1. “In order to avoid the possibility of further
guestion or scrutiny by parents or administrators,” the letter instructetiselonvender should
not engage in certain behaviors with students, including: picking them up or caneing t
rubbing their backs, having them sit on his lap, or “[k]issing or hugging th&i.Plaintiffs
claim that the Districthould have known about this letter’s warnings and the incidents (or
allegations) that led to them before it decided whether to hire Hochschwenderyithgsiog
District adequate notice that Hochschwender posed an unacceptable risk of harmrmte.stude

As mentioned earlier, a municipality may indeed be liable for failing to properéen
its employees prior to hiring thenteeA.M., 372 F.3d at 581 (permitting a “deficient hiring and
staffing” claim to go to a jury). A failurgo-screen claim typically requires the same two
elements as a failute-train claim: deliberate indifference and causatiBd. of Cty. Comm’rs
520 U.S. at 409-11.

But in this case, Plaintiffs’ screening claims face an additional hurdlaubechey rely
on a singlencident theory of liability—that is, they do not allege that the District failed to
adequately screen any teacher but Hochschwender. The Supreme Ruaatdinf County
Commissionerscautioned that a singlaeident screening claim presents a “particdianger
that a municipality will be held liable for an injury not directly caused bylibatate action

attributable to the municipality itself.Id. at 410. The Courinambiguously held that, “[e]ven
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assuming without deciding that proof of a single instance of inadequate screaulmhgver
trigger municipal liability,”id. at 412, such liability could arise “[o]nly where adequate scrutiny
of an applicant’s background would lead a reasonable policymaker to conclude thatilge plai
obvious consequence of the decision to hire the applicant would be the deprivation of a third
party’s federally protected rightid. at 411.

Plaintiffs have not made this showinghéeFeis no indication that a proper iew of
Hochschwender’s backgroundiamely, checking his refereneesvould have led a reasonable
District official to find that the “plainly obvious consequence” of hiring him wouldhleesbrts
of injuries the Plaintiffs suffered here. Although there are a few wagsath that conclusion,
the soundest is to simply recount the sequence of events that occurred between the Radnor
allegations in 2000 and the District's decision to hire Hochschwender in 2006.

To start, soon after the allegations and arourdithe law enforcement decided not to
pursue criminal charges, Hochschwender returned to regular teaching in . RAdroamunsel for
the District put it: “He was in the classroom after that event happened.” TraloA@. 13:22—
23. And while Hochschwender took medical leave not long after and eventually resigned
completely, he then worked as a developer in an early literacy prograr@@08il Ex. BB at
24:24-25:8, 26:9-10. At that point, he chose to reenter teaching, starting as a substitute
employa by a substitute teaching service that had its own screening process. Mecitsrh
taught as a substitute for a few years at several elementary schaulbj@the District (Ex.

BB at 27:8-15) before the District decided to hire him—first, in 2086a longterm substitute
(Ex. Q), and then, in 2007, as a ftithe fifth-grade teacher at Darby (Ex. BB at 2%22).

Before the District first hired Hochschwender, it ran both a crirbaakground check and a
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separate chilhbuse check through Pennsytia’s statewide database. Ex. J. Neither screen
turned up anything.

Plaintiffs’ position is that an additional reference check on top of all of thativiave
revealed to someone at the District both the Radnor allegations and the contenkstiar ttreat
the principal there subsequently sent to Hochschwender instructing him on how to properly
interact with children. And maybe so. But even assuming that that information would have
turned up, it would have been of little significance, since it would have remained thibatase
(1) Hochschwender never faced criminal ides over the Radnor allegations; (2) he returned to
regular teaching at Radnor afterwards; anch{8)criminatbackground and childbuse checks
before he was hired at the District were spotless. The notion that these climierand
undisputed—factswould have been outweighed by unverified allegations from six years prior is
difficult to support. And to establish deliberate indifference Plaintiffs ne@dt only muster
that support, but prove that news of those allegations would have led a bda<setict
administrator to conclude that the “plainly obvious consequence” of hiring Hochschwender

would be the abuse of students. On this record, that would be a bridge%oo far.

2" Plaintiffs also emphasize the fact that the District’s failure to check Hoclksclans
references was in each of its own policy (Resp. at 12-13), and that the real reason
Hochschwender took medical leave from Radnor was stress caused by thedtigastig
information a proper screening would have ferreted out (Pls.” SOR3fing Exs. C and)).
Neitherpoint alters the conclusion here. As to the District breaching its own policy, it is
reasonably welestablished that a single breach of an otherwise constitutionally sound policy
does not give rise to municipal liabilityCf., e.g, Nawrocki v. Township of Coolbaugd4 F.

App’x 832, 837 (3d Cir. 2002) (“Although there may have been some inadequacies in the way in
which municipal policies were followed in this case, an official’s failure teeeglstrictly to

municipal policies does not itself support an inference of a policy that can subj&oithship

to liability.”). As to the true reason Hochschwender took medical leave, it istehsto think

medical records or any information regarding them would ever be turned ovet asgaoutine
referance check-but even if here they had been, there is no basis to conclude that hiring
Hochschwender in the face of that additional information would have amounted to deliberate
indifference.
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Because Plaintiffs cannot establish municipal liability as a mattemodn any of their
theories, summary judgment will be granted to the District on each of these claims.

3. State-Created Danger Claims

A subset of Plaintiffs bring statereated danger claims against Assistant Superintendent
Ryan and Principal Jordan on behalf of the children who were abused by Hochschwender during
the 2013-2014 schogkar—Roe and the three Doe Plaintiffs. These claims arise out of
Hochschwender’s reassignment to a second grade classroom shortly @t theident in
2011, a move that Plaintiffs contend led predictably and directly to their harm. Becaus
Plaintiffs cannot show that Ryan acted with the requisite high degree bfdbnét he could
have foreseen Hochschwender’s abusive conduct, the claim against him faitsJofdan,
however, the claim survives.

Regarding Hochschwender’s reassignmés,rhuch is clear: sometime in the spring of
2011, someone decided that Hochschwender would teach second grade instead of fifth grade a
Darby, effective the following fall. As ith much else in this contested record, Ryan and Jordan
disagree over who made that decision and why.

According to Jordan, Hochschwender’s transfer was Ryan’s response to theidRod.inc
Jordan says that although he, Mosakowski, and Bristow had cleared Hochschwender of any
wrongdoing and he “had no reason to believe [Hochschwender] would touch another student,”
Ex. X at 141:4-9, he still had nagging doubts about Hochschwender’s innevenedter his
investigation. As Jordan later told police officers, he felt Hochschwendgrtsaed presence
was “too risky” because “if | was wrong . . . then, | mgawasn’t appropriate for him to be in a
fifth grade classroom.” Ex. EE at 13:13-23. Independent of these concerns, Jordaysdiso sa

never thought much of Hochschwender professionally: “I was not happy with his .hinggac
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his curriculum,” Ex. X at 110:2222, furthermore “he was a yeller and-Bke, he intimidated,”

id. at 111:10-11. With nothing to lose but a sub-par teacher, Jordan says he shared his “too
risky” assessment with Ryan, and although Jordan cannot remember his @t w
communicated that he “didn’t want [Hochschwender] in this buildingl’at 111:6-7. Ryan’s
immediate response, according to Jordan, was to transfer Hochschwender to setmodegra
Jordan’s protest.

Ryan remembers things far differently. He says Hochschwender’s reassigiwas
ultimately Jordan’s decision but claims the move was made because of a-imskeigtersonnel
shake-up that was driven by budget cuts. Jordan recalls that the Distri¢b@kasd’ at
furloughing staff for the upcoming school year [and] . . . had to make sure that trenieast
of people got furloughed and the least senior people got furloughed.” Ex. S at 110:22-111:5. In
this context, each personnel change had a Distig¢ “domino effect.”Id. at 111:6. And so,
when a tacher named Shannon Matteo was transferred to Darby from a neighboring school,
something had to give. In Ryan’s telling, Jordan elected to place Matteo ingxdidid
classroom and asked that Hochschwender be reassigned to second grade to makecanssa. B
Jordan never informed him of the allegations against Hochschwender, Ryan says he had no
reason to deny Jordan’s request. Thus, Ryan contends that Hochschwender’s transfer was

Jordan’s call and he merely “signed offd. at 110:6—7°

28 Actually, Defendantsevidence—a spreadsheet from May 10, 2011, showing various
staffing reassignments throughout the Distrigbartially undermine®yan’sversion of events.
Consistent with Ryan’s testimony, the spreadsheet lists 24 teachers slagad$ognment,
including Shannon Matteo. Ex. G. But while Matts listed as an incoming teacher at Darby,
she is assigned to teach first, not fifth grade. At the same time, Hochsehueesiill slated for
reassignment to second grad@efendantexplain away this apparent inconsistency with Ryan’s
testimony by nting that the May 10 version of the spreadsheet was later updated. Yeilthey fa
to produce a later version of the staffing reassignments that fully corrab&yda’s account
that Hochschwender was moved to make room for Matteo.
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Plaintiffs cortend that whether one credits Jordan’s or Ryan’s account, one of them
consciously disregarded the likelihood that Hochschwender posed a substantial risk afdhar
is therefore liable on a theory of stateated danger.

a. Elements of a Stat€reated DangeClaim

Although“the Due Process Clause imposesaffirmative duty to protect a citizen who is
not in state custodylinder a statereated danger theory, a substantive due process violation (in
this case, invasion of bodily intety) may occur When state authority is affirmatively employed
in a manner that injures a citizen or renders him more vulnerable to injury fromrasmihee
than he or she would have been in the absence of state interve®raht v. Westmoreland
County 443 F.3d 276, 281 (3d Cir. 2006) (citation omitted).

To prevail on a statereated danger claim, a plaintiff must establish four somewhat over
lapping elements: (1) the defendant’s action “forseeabl[y] and fairly dyjectaused the
plaintiff's harm; (2) the dendant acted “with a degree @ilpability that shocks the
conscience”; (3) the state and the plaintiff had “a relationship . . . such that thefplas a
foreseeable victim of the defendant’s acts, or a member of a discrete classoofssubjectieto
the potential harm brought about by the state’s actions, as opposed to a member of the public in
general”;and (4) the defendant state actor “affirmatively used his or her authority yntlaata
created a danger to the citizen or that rendered tizercitnore vulnerable to danger than had the
state not acted at all.ld. | consider each of these elents below, starting with the fourth.

b. Application of the Controlling Principles

i. AffirmativeSate Action that Causes Harm
“[A] state’s failure to take affirmative action to protect a victim from the actiores of

third party will not, in the absence of a custodial relationship . . . support a civd ciginh.”
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Bright, 443 F.3d at 282 (quotirBrown v. Grabowski922 F.2d 1097, 1101 (3d Cir. 1990)).

Thus, “[i]t is misuse of state authority, rather than a failure to use itcématiolate the Due

Process Clause.ld. “But a specific and deliberate exercise of state authority, while necessary
to satisfy the fourth elemenf the test, is not sufficient.Kaucher v. Countpf Bucks 455 F.3d

418, 432 (3d Cir. 2006)There must also be “a direct causal relationship between the affirmative
act of the state and plaintiff's harm,” such that the action “was the ‘buatme’ of the danger

faced by the plaintiff.”Id.

Jordan and Ryan both contend that Plaintiffs haveddd establish the affirmative
action element of their statgeated danger claim, but offer different reasons why. Jordan argues
that Plaintiffs’ claim is based on his alleged failure to investigate Poe’s allegai@hdoes not
encompass any affirmae misuse of authority. Ryan, meanwhile, contends that there is no but-
for causal link between his actions and Hochschwender’s abuse of his secondugiaols st
Neither argument is persuasive.

Jordan misreads Plaintiffs’ claim. Althougbrdan’salleged failure to investigate is
essential to Plaintiffs’ theory of culpability (more on that below), Plaintdffatecreated danger
claim is based on Hochschwender’s reassignment to a second grade clasardear—
affirmative act, undertaken by either Ryar Jordan, depending on whose testimony is credited.

Ryan misreads the law. Starting from the premise that “much of the case lanrapaly
statecreated danger claim indicates a temporal relationship between the alleged affianati
and the allegd harm,” MSJ at 31, he leaps to the conclusion that temporal proximity between act
and injury is a required element of the state-created danger test. On this theontehes that

the two or threeyear gap between Hochschwender’s reassignment amatimeto Roe anthe
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three Does defeats any inference of causationdisagree. Ryan’s argument is wholly
unsupported by the cases he cit@s]l of which involved acts that were closely followed by
harms, but none of which so much as mentioned terhpargimity as a relevant factor in its
analysis of causation. And while a tightnjgoral nexus between act and harm “may,” as
Plaintiffs concede, “provide circumstantial evidence of causation,” Re&g, #tis not required
in every instance and was not required here. Hochschwender abused Rod aedPthmtiffs
because he was their teacher and he was their teacher because & doRigan’s decision to
transfer him to a second grade classroom. Notwithstanding the gap betweerhi#ecldsr’s
reassignment and Plaintiffs’ harm, an unbroken and straightforward causatchaects the
two events’® This is sufficient for the fourthement of Plaintiffs’ statereated danger claim.
il. Culpability that $rocks the Conscience

In statecreated danger cases, “[tlhe exact degree of wrongfulness necessary to reach the
conscienceshocking level” depends “on the extent to which a state actor is required to act unde
pressure.”Walter v. Pike County644 F.3d 182, 192 (3d Cir. 200@)tations omitted). So “in a

hyperpressurized environment” calling for split-second decision-making, “an itteatuse

29t is unclear when ectly during the 2013—-2014 schg@ar Hochschwender abused
Roe or the three Does.

%0 Rivas v. City of Passai665 F.3d 181 (3d Cir. 2004neipp 95 F.3d 119;
D.R v. MiddleBucksAreaVocationalTech.Sch, 972 F.2d 1364 (3@ir. 1992; Mitchell v.
Duval Cty. Sch. Bd107 F.3d 837 (11th Cir. 1997).

3 Ironically, Hochschwender’s transfer decreased the risk of harm to Darftlygréxde
population, but that offsetting benefit is without legal significance under the fistate-
createl danger. Rather, under the doctrine’s fourth element, the appropriate anaiysthisr
the defendant’s affirmative act caused or increased the risk of danger totithdgygplaintiff.
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harm is usually required.Id. At the other extreme, “where deliberation is possible and officials
have time to make unhurried grients, deliberate indifference is sufficientd’*?

Because Ryan or Jordan had days if not weeks to decide where to place teaders for t
2011-201Zchool yearthe decision to transfer Hochschwender to second grade is properly
analyzed under the deliberate indifference standard.

Deliberate indifference “requir[es] a conscious disregard of a substaskiaf serious
harm,” and thus “might exist without actual knowledge of a risk of harm when the risk is so
obvious that it should be knownL’.R. v. Sch. Dist. of Phila836 F.3d 235, 246 (3d Cir. 2016).
Plaintiffs’ theory of culpability is that Ryan or Jordan demonstrated deléerdifference
because they ordered Hochschwender’s transfer while disregarding ttiatibk would abuse
his stu@nts—a known or obvious danger in the aftermath of the Poe incident. Or as they put it:
“either [Jordan] requested transferring to second grade a teacher he consideris#yt for
fifth grade, or [Ryan] ordered the transfer, despite knowing thaetteler had been the target of
a credible complaint.” Resp. at412.

As to Ryan, Plaintiffs’ theory is unpersuasive. If Ryan’s testimongedited, he cannot
be faulted for “sign[ing] off” on Hochschwender’s transfer because Jordan néw@néd him
of the Poe incident. And if Jordan’s testimony is credited, then Ryan ordered Heehdein's
transfer but only after Jordan informed him, in writing and following a thorough inviestiga
that Hochschwender acted inadvertently. Under that scenario, Ryan would have bleeintentit
rely on Jordan’s formal findings, a conclusion that is iftet@d by Jordan’s later misgivings

about Hochschwender’s innocence. Jordan himself admits that he “had no reason to believe”

32 At least one case has suggested that if state actors haveemar hours to deliberate,
an intermediate standard of fault appli&hillips v. County of Alleghen%15 F.3d 224 (3d Cir.
2008).
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that Hochschwender posed an ongoing threat to students so his report that it wasy'too risk
leave Hochschwender in the classroom would not have enabled Ryan to take dis@ptioary
against a tenurprotected union teacher like Hochschwender. And Ryan can be forgiven for
downplaying Jordan’s purported demand that Hochschwender be removed from the building
since, as Karcher, the union representative recalls, Jordan also called forehefoiaslot of

other teachers” who had not been accused of inappropriate cohtactAA at 63:8-9. In this
context, Jordan’s vague and unsubstantiated concerns about Hochschwendeengayeha

Ryan pause, but if communicated they would not have given him clear notice that
Hochschwender posed a substantial risk of serious harm to his students. Thus, even crediting
Jordan’s testimony, Ryan could not have acted with deliberate indifeebgneassigning
Hochschwender to second grade. Tlam against Ryan therefore fails.

Plaintiffs’ claim against Jordan, however, may proceed. As noted in the prewtios,se
in thelight most damning to Jordan and most favorable to Plaintiffs, the testimony of Bristow
and Mosakowski suggests that Jordan utterly failed to investigate a pattern chlsneteons
against Hochschwender and failed to communicate the substance of those allegatipns to a
other responsible administrators. On this reading, Jordan acted with delibeiffecnce
because he disregarded the obvious risk that the allegations were true and thdioaesc
was, in fact, a child mester. If so, then Jordan’s subsequent decision to transfer
Hochschwender to second grade with no investigation whatsoever could demonstrase call
disregard to the risk that Hochschwender would continue to abuse his students. Admittedly,

Plaintiffs’ case is fragile, because it requires the jury to accept Jordan’s testiegamging the

33 Karcher says that in Jordan’s leéeantwo-year tenure as Darbyfwincipal, Jordan
also demanded the removal of the art teacher, the music teacher (“the two ofetteelike oil
and water”), the librarian, and “probably . . . Bristow.” Ex. AA at 63:14-24.
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multiple accusations against Hochschwender, while rejecting his testnegayling his
response to those accusations, which is starkly controverted by Ryan, Mosakowski, and
Bristow). But it is ajury’s prerogative to make such a choidénited States v. Salahuddine5
F.3d 329, 347 (3d Cir. 2014ee alsorhird Circuit Model Civil Jury Instruction 1.7—
Credibility of Witnesses (updated March 201PJaintiffs have herefore sufficiently established
the second element of their claim as to Jordan.
iii. Foreseeable and Fairly Dire€€onnection Between Action and Harm

A harm is foreseeable when a state actor has “an awareness . . . that rises to the level o
actual knowledge or an awareness of risk that is sufficiently concrete toepadtor[] on notice
of the harm.”L.R, 836 F.3d at 245. An action has a fairly direct connection to a harm when that
action “precipitated or w[as] the catalyst for the harmldrse v. Lower Merion Sch. Disf.32
F.3d 902, 910 (3d Cir. 1997).

The foreseeability analysis largely flows from the earlier disonssi culpability. If
Jordan knew of a pattern of abuse allegations against Hochschwender and had no basis to
disbelieve thosallegations because he never investigated them, then he could have foreseen that
Hochschwender would molest his future students. Ryan, on the other hand, either knew nothing
of the allegations against Hochschwender (his testimony) or, alternakimely of allegations
but also knew that Hochschwender had been cleared following a formal investigataan(d
testimony). Either way, Ryan did not have sufficiently concrete notice oisthéhat
Hochschwender posed to his children.

Whether there was aifly direct connection between Hochschwender’s transfer and his
subsequent abuse of second grade students is a closer question. Act and harm inxtbrs case

separated by two or three years. As noted above, no decision sipy@oitsargument that this
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timelag precludes a finding of causation. But at least one Third Circuit decisiontéabby
Defendants) suggests that tight temporal proximity might be necessatglibsésa fairly direct
connection between act and harm, and should be addressed.

In Henry v. City of Erie728 F.3d 275, 285 (3d Cir. 2013), the Third Circuit refused to
impose liability on a local housing agency that had wrongly issued a Seciem&:l and
subsidy for an apartment that was not in compliance with applicable fies.cddhe apartment
later caught fire, killing the occupant and her guastl the decedents’ families sued the agency
and its personnel on a stateeate danger theory. In reversing the district court’s denial of a
motion to dismiss, the Court of Appeals noted that the plaintiffs had not shown that act and harm
were directly connected in part because the issuance of the license and the fatal fict were n
“close in time and succession” and, in fact, were separated “by a lengthy perind ahti
intervening forces and actionsld.

AlthoughHenryshows that temporal proximity is relevant to the directness inquiry, | do
not read it to foreclose liability here. Notwithstiamg the language quoted abokgnrys
outcome was based not on timing, but onekistence of intervening causes; namely,
contributory negligence on the part of the apartment owner and the occupant herself, bot
whom failed to remedy the code violations despite having actual notice of the nesubics.
Indeed, the lag betweearction and harm figured into the decismmly to the extent that it
created the opportunity for the occupant to mitigate the risk of fire. As the coplained,
because “there was substantial time to reflect on the living situation,” theddateridd not
throw [the occupant] into a snake pit, with all the urgency that such a situation would ddtai

(citations omitted). MoreoveHenrywas an unusual case in which the plaintiffs sought to
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impose statereated danger liability on a licensor. disposing of the plaintiffs’ claim, the panel
stressed its reluctance to extend the doctrine in this*vay.

This case is distinguishable fradenry, both because it involves no attempt to extend
statecreated danger doctrine to a new class of state actors and, more importantlsg becau
Defendants identify no intervening causes between Hochschwender’s tearsstas abuse of
his students. Unlike the apartment occupattenry, Hochschwender’s second grade students
cannot be faulted for failing to guard against the risk of molestation. And whilertharha
Henry was ascribable at least in part to the apartment owner’s failure to repaivradeect, if
Jordan in fact failed to communicate the substance of the allegations againsthieeider,
then no one else at the District had a similar opportunity to intervene. On theséhfact
temporal gap between Hochschwender’s transfer and the subsequent harm to his stiglents w
against, but does not defeat, Plaintiffs’ claim. If Jordan placed a teacher heduatoesuspect
of child molestation in a second grade classroom, two school years without re s ef
would not absolve him of responsibility for his action.

iv. DiscreteClass of Wctims

Finally, Plaintiffs must establish that Roe and the three Does were “mentfea[s]
discrete class of persons subjected to the potential harm brought about by’ Hectdseatsv
transfer, “as opposed to . . . member[s] of the public in geneBaight, 443 F.3d at 281. This
element is easily satisfied here. All four children were second gnadienss at Darby, a group
uniquely vulnerable to Hochschwender’s predations because of his transfehtseleacd

grade.

34 The court irHenryemphasized that “[t]he Supreme Court hasnseled a restrained
approach in the area of substantive due process,” generally, and that tbecst&ig-danger
doctrine was a “narrow exception to the general rule that the state has no jphatiect its
citizens from private harnis.Id. at 286.
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In sum, Plaintiffs have satisfied the elements of a statated danger claim against
Jordan. Their claim against Ryan fails, however, because they have neitherlstd®yan
acted with deliberate indifference by transferring Hochschwender to se@ate gor that the
harm to A. Roe and the three L. Doe plaintiffs was foreseeable to Ryan at tlué tivae
transfer.

c. Qualified Immunity

Jordan next invokes the doctrine of qualified immunity, which shields government
employees from personal liabilityless their conduct violates “clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights . . . which a reasonable person would have kndwarldw v. Fitzgerald
457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982). Because the facts show a violation of Plaintiffs’ substantive due
process right to bodily integrity, | must ask whether “it would be clearéasonable [school
official]” that Jordan’s conduct was unlawful under the circumstances of $es Raedy v.
Evanson615 F.3d 197 at 224 (3d Cir. 2010). If so, then Jordaatientitled to qualified
immunity.

The parties agree that the touchstone for qualified immunity analysis ingRigsca
Stoneking v. Bradford Area School Distyig82 F.2d 720 (3d Cir. 1989). There, the Third
Circuit held that students have “a cleardyablished constitutional right . . . to be free from
sexual abuse by teachers,” and that school officials who communicate ftoiecandonation
or encouragement” of abusive behavior are not entitled to qualified immuahitgt 731. The
court was ceeful, however, to distinguish between affirmative actions that “encouragled] a
climate to flourish where innocent girls were victimized,” and the “mereréadf supervisory

officials to act or investigate,” which “cannot be the basis of liabilitg.”at 730.
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UnderStonekingthen, the central question on qualified immunity is whether Jordan’s
affirmative act—the transfer of Hochschwender to second grasignaled “toleration,
condonation or encouragement” of inappropriate contact with students. Unfortunatbbyr, neit
party provides much of an answer. Plaintiffs’ expert states in conclustngriethat second
graders are “even more vulnerable” to abuse than fifth graders. No. 15883682-1 at26.

And Jordan, who bears the burden of proving entitliement to qualified immRekygy 615 F.3d

at 223, merely asserts without elaboration that “there was no testimony . . . frattjbis. . .
could be construed as any sort of approval.” Jordan MSJ &até&rtheless, | conclude that
Hochschwender’s transfer to second grade facilitated his subsequent miscondwat, for
reasons. First, because it is more common and socially acceptable forathdisetphysical
contact with pre-pubescent children thaith adolescents, a second grade teacher who touches
his students is less likely to raise suspicions than a fifth grade teachengduges in the same
behavior> Second, and relatedly, young children with less developed conceptions of personal
space aréess likely than adolescents to react defensively when touched by a trustedrads|

a teacher who makes uninvited contact with a second grader runs a reduced risk ahtompla
compared with a teacher who makes similar contact witthagrader. Because of these

inherent differences between sevand eightyearolds on the one hand, and tand eleven
yearolds on the other, | find th&tochschwender’s reassignmémthe wake of the Poe incident
communicated encouragemgadndomtion ortoleraton his behaviorl therefore conclude that

Jordan is not entitled to qualified immunity to the extent that he was behind thédrtrans

% Adolescence is aperiod of development corresponds roughly to the period between
the ages of 10 and 19 years.” National Institutes of He&dfl Limits and Adolescent2003).
This definition encompasses fifth grade students, who are typically 10 or 11 ykars ol
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Accordingly, summary judgment will be denied ashe statecreated danger claim against
Jordan.
B. Title IX Claims

Finally, Plaintiffs argue that the District violated Title IX, 20 U.S.C. §1681¢aich
forbids discrimination at educationakititutions on the basis of sex, and allows recovery by
victims of physical sexual abus&/hereasPlaintiffs’ Monell claims require a policy or custom
on the part of the DistricTitle IX's scheme of statutory liabilitymposes no such requirement
and in that regard, sweeps more broadly than § 19&B3hold the District liable, Plaintiffs need
only show that (1) an appropriate person at the school (2) had actual knowledge of facts
indicating a substantial danger to students and (3) acted with deliberataemdiéfeo that
danger.Bostic v. Smyrna Sch. Dis18 F.3d 355, 361 (3d Cir. 2005).

An “approprate person” isomeone with “authority to address the alleged [abuse] and to
institute corrective measures on the district’'s behdbostic 418 F.3d at 360 (citinGebser v.
Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Disb24 U.S. 274, 290 (1998)). Thus, “a school principal who is
entrusted with the responsibility and authority normally associated witpakaion will
ordinarily be an appropriate person under Title IXVarren ex relGood v. Reading School
District, 278 F.3d 163, 171-72 (3d Cir. 2002).

As to the B.F. incident, there can be no question that Dunwoody, as principal, and her
superior, Superintendent Trudy Bennettre “appropriate persons” under Title IX. Regarding
the Poe incidenthesame can be said, as to the Poe incident, about Butz, asthen
superintendent, Ryan, who was then assistant superintendent, and Jordan, who was then
principal. Plaintiffs further argue that sufficient knowledge on the part stdvi the guidance

counselor, can create Title IX liability. Warren however, the Third Circuit concluded that
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evena guidance counselor who had sometimes assumed the duties of the principalewhen
principal was away was not “cloaked with sufficient authority” to be an “apptep&son”
when the principal was prese@¥8 F.3d at 173, arfélaintiffs here have provided no evidence
that Bristow had administrative authority over teachers. Though testimony sutge8ristow
guestioned both B.F. and Poe about Hochschwender, it appears that her questioning eds direct
and supervised by Dunwoody (in the case of B.F.) and Jordan (with Bod)that it was
Dunwoody and Jordan who decided how the District should respond to these allegations. Put
differently, there is no evidence to suggest that Bristow ever assumed teealdlie prinipal
or was otherwise vested with administrative control over the teaching faéudoprdingly, |
conclude that knowledge on her part would not suffice to create liability undebXitle

The harder question is whether Plaintiffs can i@ IX’'s exacting culpability
requirement, which limits liability to those casedere a [school] intentionally violates the
statute.” Davis ex rel. LaShonda D. v. Monroe Cty. Bd. of Eca@6 U.S. 629, 642 (1999). To
show intent, Title IX plaintiffs must showdhan appropriate person was personally aware of
facts demonstrating a real danger to his or her studentbaxly that he or she made “an official
decision . . . not to remedy the violatiorld. Precedent is imprecise about exactly hnuchan
appropriate person must know in order to satisfy the actual knowledge prong of tligetestr
makes clear that “actual notice requires more than a simple report of inagfgapnduct by a
teacher Bennett v. Pa. Hosp. Sch. of Nurse Anesthé&maCiv.A. 01€V-4098, 2002 WL
32341792 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 29, 2002) (quotiegrd v. Sch. Dist. of Philadelphi&lo. Civ. A. 99-
2727, 2000 WL 576441, at *3 (E.D. Pa. May 12, 2086galso Swanger v. Warrior Run Sch.
Dist., 137 F. Supp. 3d 737, 751 (M.D. Pa. 2015), vacated and remanded, 659 F. App'x 120 (3d

Cir. 2016). To prevail, a plaintiff musprove an appropriate person knew of acts sufficiently
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indicating a danger of future abu¥eDavis, 526 U.S. at 643Bosticfurther clarifies that the
knownacts must show more than a mpossibilityof abuse. 418 F.3d at 361. At the same
time, because the standard is couched in terms of “danger,” it necessarily datastgdbility
where school officials suspect, but cannot be sure of, abusive conduct.

As with Monell, the governing standard is deliberate indifference, the evaluation of which
requiresthat | “examine the apparent gravity of the riskKSanford 456 F.3d at 311. On this
record, there is no viable path to liability under Title IX as to the B.F. incidém conduct in
guestior—a single instance of Hochschwender briefly placing a student’s hands in-his lap
would not supply actual knowledge of substantial danger to students. Even beyond that,
Plaintiffs have presented no evidence that Bennett ever knew of any comganding
Hochschwender at any time, so liability cannot stem from her actions. Dunwasdpvolved
in the investigation, but given the ambiguous nature of the conduct, her independent assessment
of Hochschwender’s personal interactions with others generally, and B.Foiy lmEmaking
then recanting allegationshe can hardly be said to have shown indifference to student safety.

In contrast, as to the Powident, a path to liability exists, one that closely tracks the
analysis of Plaintiffs’ statereated danger claiegainst Jordan, the difference being that here,
is the District itself that is potentially liable, because knowledge attributabledanJtows back
to the District by virtue of Jordan’s status as an “appropriate person.” Viewarayidence in
the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, this was not an isolated incident of a tgzattiag a
student on the bottombut a series of girls iearly adolescence being similarly touched.

Context matters. The reported conduct did not publicly occur on the soccer fieldaah aent

% |n Bostic,the Court of Appeals upheld a jury charge instructing that the plaintiff must
show “sufficiently substantial danger to students.” 418 F.3d at 361.
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a player into a game, but behind the doors of the classroom. Such contact between a male
teacher and fifttgradegirls isin and of itself inappropriate, and the potentially sexual nature of
such contact is sevident. By Jordan’s admission, he had knowledge of such acts, and in my
view, such conduct would reflect a substantial danger to students.

As discussedbove, two divergent fact patterns exist: either Jordan’s entire testimony is
deemed credible, and he both recognized the damglkronducted a full investigation into Poe’s
allegations, or Mosakowski and Bristow are deemed crediblen@sdch investigation
occurred. Jordan’s version of events yields no Title IX liability, because tdnifand perhaps
Ryan and Mosakowski) might have had actual knowledge of Hochschwender inappropriatel
touching multiple students, he (and they) took steps to evaluate the danger. Mosakaowiski
Bristow’s testimony, howevecouldresult in Title IX liability, because if believed, Jordan did
nothing in spite of knowledge of the danger. For this reason, summary judgment as tie the Ti
IX claims brought by Roe and thieree Doe Plaintiffs must be denied.

As to Poe’s claim, the facts are obviously different. Jordan did not know of any
allegations against Hochschwender until Poe’s complaint, so he could not have acted with
deliberate indifference to her safety. And no other appropriate person knesufciEnt to
satisfyBostics actual knowledge prong. Until Poe’s father allegedly complained of
inappropriate touching of Poe and her peers, no appropriate person had knowledge that would
support a Title IX claim. Accordingly, summary judgment will barged on Poe’s claim.

This is an instance where Title IX allows for broader recovery than § 1983. Though the
actions of an individual administrator cannot bind a school district iideell, they can under

Title IX, provided thathe administrator was teerately indifferent to a danger of which he was
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aware. Becae of that crucial difference, the claims of the Plaintiffs other than Poe may
proceed.
IV. Conclusion

Defendants’ motion fortsnmary judgment will bgranted as to Plaintiff€ 1983claims
against the District. Summary judgment will atsegranted as to Plaintiffs’ stateeated danger
claims against Ryan and Plaintiff Poe’s Title IX claim against the District. Suynodgment
will be denied as to the stateeated danger claim againgf®ndant Jordan, and the remaining

Title IX claims against the DistrictAn appropriate order follows.

/s/ Gerald Austin McHugh
United States Districiudge
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